1979

# Utah Department of Transportation v. Glen E. Fuller And Connie J. Fuller, His Wife; Kimberly G. Fuller; Kent F. Fuller : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This interlocutory appeal is brought for the purpose of determining the constitutional and legislative extent and authority of the Utah Department of Transportation in exercising its powers of eminent domain. Specifically, defendants in this interlocutory appeal challenge plaintiff's authority to condemn for the purpose for which their lands are sought and also challenge the manner in which plaintiff seeks to implement whatever eminent domain powers might exist in the circumstances.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff upon filing its Complaint moved for an Order of Immediate Occupancy, to which defendants filed their objections

and a Motion to Dismiss. After a hearing on the matter, the lower court issued a Memorandum Decision, which in substance denied the Motion to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Immediate Occupancy permitting plaintiff to proceed with construction.

Defendants sought and were granted an Interlocutory Appeal.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek to have the Complaint dismissed and the "Amended" Order of Immediate Occupancy nullified, and for a directive to the lower court protecting defendants' property by awarding damages or granting injunctive or other relief from construction activities which might be undertaken by plaintiff or its contractor.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this matter plaintiff undertook the construction of a roadside rest area on the west side of I-15 freeway in Box Elder County at a point approximately 5 miles northwest of Brigham City and about two blocks west of the Brigham City airport. Being on the west side of the freeway, it will naturally accommodate travelers following a southbound traffic flow. (See Complaint--Exhibit A-1) The total rest stop area will contain 19.54 acres of land. As noted on the Exhibit, which was made a part of the Complaint, a small rectangular area was located at

west side of the freeway, and to the north of the rest stop area, for a sewage lagoon.

Because of a high ground water table in the area, and since no public sewage facilities existed, plaintiff undertook to solve the sewage problem by first selecting two contiguous sites approximately 1,000 feet east of the freeway and adjacent to the west property line of the Brigham City Airport. The Brigham City Airport officials objected to this location ( Rep.Tr. 23, Tr. 85-4,5 and Tr. 84-11), and a third location ( as shown on Exhibit A of the Complaint) was selected on the west side of the freeway and immediately north of, and contiguous to, the roadside rest area.

The third location for the sewage lagoon, which encompassed a site of 3.10 acres ( Tr. 84-12), also drew objections from area residents; in fact, different individuals came to Salt Lake City to register their objections; and Mr. Wilde, who did the design work on the project, stated that " All the property owners.. in the area objected to the sewage lagoon. ( Tr. 84-14)

Thereafter, and just shortly before the Complaint was filed in this action, a fourth location was selected on the east side of the freeway approximately across from the third location; however, instead of the final location containing 3.10 acres for

sewage lagoon purposes; it was enlarged to double its original size , so as to include 6.05 acres.

During the design and planning stages of the fourth and enlarged sewage lagoon area, plaintiff and certain property owners in the area had discussions whereby, at no charge whatsoever, the proposed sewage lagoon would accept effluent from the Brigham City Airport ( Rep. Tr. 29), an adjoining land developer by the name of Thompson from California, whose property lay on the west side of the freeway ( Rep. Tr. 10), and possibly other individuals. Mr. Woodrow Burnham, project design engineer for plaintiff, stated ( Tr. 18) that Brigham City, Mr. Thompson, possibly Mrs. Hunsaker ( another property owner on the west side of the freeway), and others, could connect their pipes and discharge effluent into the proposed sewage lagoon, recognizing that its proposed size was in fact larger than the immediate needs of the plaintiff ( Tr. 85-15). The proposed facility would be built entirely at the cost of the plaintiff ( with federal funds), and without any cost whatever to others who might hook into the sewage lagoon ( Tr. 85-16 , Rep. Tr. 30), although Mr. Thompson volunteered that he would have put up \$11,000.00 ( Tr. 85-15) to compensate for what it would have cost him to put in his own waste water facility.

As a means of implementing the use of the proposed sewage

lagoon on defendants' properties by others, Mr. Burnham caused to be prepared a Policy Statement pertaining to additional users of the proposed sewage lagoon ( R. 73, Tr. 85-12), wherein it provided, among other things, that plaintiff would ultimately attempt to make the sewage lagoon a " community facility, if possible."

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THERE IS NO STATUTORY AUTHORITY PROVIDING FOR THE CONDEMNATION OF A SEWAGE LAGOON LOCATED SEPARATE AND APART FROM A ROADSIDE REST AREA.

Section 27-12-96 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 ( Laws of 1963) furnishes the only authority authorizing the taking of private property for roadside rest areas. The applicable provision of the statute follows:

" 27-12-96 Acquisition of rights of way and other real property- The commission is authorized to acquire any real property or interests therein, deemed necessary for temporary, present, or reasonable future state highway purposes by gift, agreement, exchange, purchase, condemnation, or otherwise. Highway purposes as used in this section or otherwise in this act shall include, but shall not be limited to the following:

(11) The construction and maintenance of roadside rest areas adjacent to or near any highway.

History L. 1963, ch. 39, Para 96. "

Conceivably, a "roadside rest area" might incorporate a modest-sized sewage lagoon facility within the complex to accommodate restroom facilities for the traveling public; but to consider a non-contingent six-acre sewage lagoon, located as a separate facility across the freeway from the rest area-- and serving numerous prospective users, is stretching the concept of a "roadside rest area" far beyond reality. This is even more apparent in view of the testimony at the hearing of Mr. Wilde, who stated ( T. 84-12,13) that the proposed facility located contiguous to the rest area would have been only one-half as large as the one being contemplated in this action and that the State's lack of experience with these sewage lagoon facilities involved several unknown "variables". ( Rep. Tr. 31 )

A "roadside rest area" cannot within reason include an "area" utilized for the roadstop rest purposes and a separate "area" for a sewage lagoon. The definition of the word "area", according to Volume 4 of Words and Phrases, at pages 8 and 10, states:

" ' area' can mean any plane surface, the enclosed space which a building stands, a particular extent of surface  
" ' area' in geometry means the superficial contents of any figure; the surface included within any given lines

A "roadside rest area" by definition does not contemplate two separate distinct parcels of land; in fact, the words "roadside rest area" by definition do not contemplate

side rest" qualify the word " area," and no possible construction or innuendo surrounding the words " sewage lagoon" can possibly bring such a separate facility within the meaning of a " road-side rest area".

Plaintiff may argue that the words "but shall not be limited to", which are found in Section 27-12-96, would enlarge upon the definition of " highway purposes" therein contained, but those gratuitous words will not enlarge the power of eminent domain under general condemnation law and our specific Utah cases. The power of eminent domain is strictly construed, as pointed out in Volume 1 of Nichols on Eminent Domain, Section 3.213:

"One of the most firmly established principles of law of eminent domain is that the burden is on a party seeking to exercise the power of eminent domain to show a warrant from the legislature either in express terms or by necessary implication. The burden is also on the condemnor to show that it is acting within the scope of statutory power. Unless expressly provided by statute, mere authority to acquire or purchase property does not confer the power of eminent domain by implication. Although doubtful inferences will not sustain an exercise of the power, a clearly implied power will be recognized. Even though there is an apparent grant of power, if such grant is not clear and explicit and if no provision is made for compensation the grant will not be implied. Thus, a statute which merely sets forth a code of procedure will not impliedly grant the power. Nor does it follow, because the denial of the power will defeat the object to be attained, that the legislature intended to grant the power."

The Utah case of Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Company, 18 Utah 2d 279, 421 P. 2d 504, is quoted by Nichols in support of the foregoing rule. In that case this

Court held that the Authority did not have the power of eminent domain to acquire Antelope Island by reading into the Act creating the Great Salt Lake Authority the power by implication from general words found in the Act; rather, it was held that the express power must necessarily issue from the legislature.

Judge Christoffersen did not enter any Findings of Fact in this matter, but he did issue a Memorandum Decision ( R. 49), wherein he stated that-- " ... in order to maintain the roadside rest area it is necessary, in this particular case, that there be some method of taking care of the sewage problem."

There are many instances in property acquisitions by governmental agencies where the disposal of sewage, or some other activity, is " necessary", but without a clear mandate in the statutes a " necessary" function will not be permitted. In this instance, part of the taking for the roadside rest area was from the Thompson property on the west side of the freeway, and the only interpretation of the statute which would have allowed a sewage lagoon to be constructed would have been to enlarge that taking so as to accommodate the entire project.

Invariably, governmental agencies, given the power of eminent domain for certain purposes, always seek to extend those powers far beyond the realm of necessity. As the hearing in this

matter clearly pointed out ( and as the depositions reveal) a workable, gravity-flow sewage lagoon could have easily been established ( Rep. Tr. 25, Tr. 84-11) as part of the total land area acquired for the rest stop area facility on the west side of the freeway! The proposed fourth location of a sewage lagoon on the defendants' properties does not contain the elements of public necessity, it is planned at this fourth location to service numerous individual property owners, and the proposed fourth location was actually prompted by local elements objecting to odors which would emanate from a sewage lagoon at the other three planned locations. ( Rep. Tr. 36, Tr. 84-15) Under the circumstances, to construe Section 27-12-96 ( 11) so as to include such a sewage lagoon, by implication, is stretching the statute clear out of proportion to its intended purpose.

## POINT II

THE CONDEMNATION RESOLUTION PURPORTING TO SUPPORT THE TAKING IS FATALY DEFECTIVE.

It has long been recognized that a valid Resolution must be adopted by the State Road Commission members before the Department of Transportation can proceed with a condemnation action, and the district judges in Utah have uniformly insisted that such a Resolution be produced in court as a prerequisite to any further consideration of a condemnation action.

The Complaint contains a Condemnation Resolution ( R. 2, 1 wherein it provides that a public improvement is involved, "... namely a State Highway." Further, another reference is made therein to the " proposed State Highway", but the attachment to the Resolution specifies that the land is being taken in fee "... for a rest area sewage lagoon adjoining a freeway..." It is obvious that the " freeway" would have to be the " State Highway", and that the sewage lagoon adjoining the freeway is no a " State Highway" as set forth in the Resolution. Further, Section 27-12-96, Utah Code Annotated, which refers to " roadside rest areas" , would at the very best regulate the claimed usage of plaintiff for the proposed sewage lagoon to that of a " High purpose (s)" as set forth in the introductory paragraph of that Section of the Code.

Nowhere in the Condemnation Resolution does it provide for the taking pursuant to a legitimate purpose provided by our Utah laws-- the sewage lagoon referred to is neither a State Highway nor is it a roadside rest area. The Condemnation Resolution is fatally defective, and there was no jurisdictional basis for the court to proceed to issue an Order Immediate Occupancy even if it otherwise had power to do so.

POINT III

THE PROPOSED USE OF THE SEWAGE LAGOON VIOLATES STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS IN THAT IT SPECIFICALLY CONFERS SPECIAL DIRECT BENEFITS UPON INDIVIDUAL AND PUBLIC ORGANIZATIONS BEYOND THE SCOPE OF A PROPER PUBLIC PURPOSE.

Nichols on Eminent Domain, Vol. 2A, recognizes that the very nature of many public projects is such that different individuals receive " incidental" benefits, such as a landowner who owns a parcel of land adjacent to an interchange finding his land values have substantially increased by reason of the proximity to the interchange. Also, as part of a public project, our courts have even sanctioned the construction of a roadway to a private property if, in so doing, it prevents that property from being landlocked by reason of the project, thereby reducing severance damages.

"7.222 Incidental Private Benefit.

If the use for which land is taken by eminent domain is public the taking is not invalid merely because an incidental benefit will enure to private individuals."

On the other hand, in situations of the type before the Court in this case, Nichols recognizes a different rule:

"7.222 (4) Comingling of Uses.

...The use for which the property is acquired by eminent domain must ordinarily be the use of the condemnor. An acquisition which is primarily for private benefit is not a public use..."

It becomes important at this point to recognize that the presently proposed sewage lagoon of 6.05 acres is double the size of the lagoon proposed of the west side of the freeway. Further, we should apply a practical and sensible perspective to what plaintiff is attempting to do in that a six-acre lagoon takes in a substantial amount of land, in this case being 525 feet long and 500 feet wide-- approaching the size of the area within a square city block. This large area for a sewage lagoon must strike anyone as being unnecessarily large in view of the size of the public roadside rest area being served. Mr. Wilde volunteered that --

" There will be parking facilities for both trucks and cars. There will be an information center building, which will include restrooms and also ( an) area where the Utah Travel Council will have facilities to help the traveling public. There will be a picnic table. And that's about all."

(Tr. 84-5)

Mr. Wilde further explained that the final proposed sewage lagoon was planned to accommodate highway service needs for traffic volume 20 years into the future ( Rep. Tr. 26, 27); even so, the disproportionately large size of the sewage lagoon to accommodate the minimal facilities can only lead to the conclusion that the sewage lagoon was planned to accommodate the specific needs of various individuals, and the Brigham City airport property, in the immediate area.

Mr. Woodrow Burnham, who was largely responsible for the location of the sewage lagoon, caused to be prepared for distribution a document labeled " Policy Concerning Additional Users of Evaporation Pond-- Brigham South Bound Rest Area", introduced as " Exhibit 2 ( R. 73 Tr. 85-12), which set forth 8 separate statements whereby private users could utilize the sewage lagoon. The only requirement was that each would pay his or its connection cost and share the cost of operations. Recognizing that the time might come when the lagoon should be enlarged Paragraph 8 of the Exhibit further provides:

" 8. When enlargement of the pond becomes necessary, UDOT will arrange to make it a community facility if possible. If this is done, it will come under the control of the local governing body. Any expansion of the system must receive prior approval of the Bureau of Water Polution Control."

The foregoing Policy Statement recognizes that the proposed sewage lagoon is being planned as an ultimate public facility which will be expanded in scope far beyond the uses of the proposed roadside rest area facility. And it must also be recognized that when one looks down the road some 20 years, changing conditions and the construction of improvements in reliance upon using the facility make it abundantly clear that the plaintiff would in no event forcibly remove private users from its service; rather, common sense tells us that the

pressure would naturally be to have the facility enlarged to protect vested investments. In fact, the first policy statement ( Exhibit 1-- Burnham Dep. , Tr. 85-11, 12) actually suggested that any enlargement requiring additional land would be effected by the right of eminent domain.

It now becomes necessary to specifically address our inquiry to the issue of whether the use of the sewage lagoon by the Brigham City Airport, Mr. Thompson ( the developer), the Hunsaker property, and possibly others, confers upon them only an " incidental" benefit, or whether it is a special and direct benefit in violation of constitutional prohibitions against the use of state and federal public funds.

Article VI, Section 29 of the Constitution of Utah provides:

"Section 29. Lending Public Credit Forbidden

The Legislature shall not authorize the State, or any County, City, Town, township, district or other political subdivision of the State to lend its credit or subscribe to stock or bonds in aid of any railroad, telegraph or other private individual or corporate enterprise or undertaking."

Article I, Section 2 of the Constitution of Utah also provides:

"Section 2. (All political power inherent in the people  
All political power is inherent in the people, and all governments are founded on their authority for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right to alter or reform their government as the public welfare may require  
( underlining added)

Similarly, Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States provides:

"... nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws."

It thus becomes necessary to determine whether in this instance public funds are being unlawfully expended in pursuit of private endeavors, thus providing unequal advantages to some citizens or organizations at the expense of state and federal taxpayers in general as contrasted with those situations providing only incidental benefits as the result of the construction of a public project. In this respect the actual facts become important to the decision. And since Judge Christoffersen in his Memorandum Decision ( R. 49) did not address this aspect of defendants' objections, recourse will be had to the actual facts.

The expenditure of public funds for challenged purposes has received a fairly liberal construction by most courts where the expenditure serves a public purpose. In Thomas v. Daughters of the Utah Pioneers, 114 Utah 108, 197 P. 2d 477, this Court adopted the general rule that a tax for a private purpose is unconstitutional, but pointed out that-- "... the vital point in all such appropriations is whether the purpose is public;...

the test is in the end, not in the means."

In the foregoing case a lease of land and the expenditure of funds for a museum to display pioneer relics was a proper public objective, but recognized that if the building constructed by the State had "... reserved part to the Daughters of Utah Pioneers, Inc. for its own private purposes and to the exclusion of the public, then ... our act might not be sound."

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