1979

# Utah Department of Transportation v. Glen E. Fuller And Connie J. Fuller, His Wife; Kimberly G. Fuller; Kent F. Fuller : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

EVIDENCE NOT PRESENTED AT THE HEARING  
CANNOT BE CONSIDERED FOR THE FIRST TIME  
ON APPEAL

In the instant case, the only evidence produced by Defendants was offered after the initial contested hearing was over. The Court allowed the Defendants leave to file a memorandum on the applicable law, and in doing so, Defendants filed two affidavits. The Defendants neither asked for leave to file additional affidavits nor were ever granted such leave. Defendants were given only leave to file memoranda on the applicable law. The allowance of this evidence would act to the extreme prejudice of Plaintiff. The allowance of these affidavits at this point would preclude Plaintiff from

any cross-examination and would also preclude the Plaintiff's witnesses from refuting this testimony, which Plaintiff's witnesses are able to do. Judge Christoffersen recognized this and so declined to review the affidavits. His Memorandum Decision at page two states:

At the time of the hearing no evidence was introduced at the hearing by the defendants that would controvert testimony given by the plaintiff's engineer, however, defendants seek to do so now by affidavits attached to their memorandum which adds additional evidence. Of course, the time for taking evidence was set previously at the hearing and the memorandum to be filed was memorandum in law applicable to this case and not the introduction of further testimony. (R. 50)

The exclusion of these affidavits was proper and the trial Judge issued the order of immediate occupancy based on the evidence properly before the Court. There was ample evidence to support the decision and therefore should not be disturbed on appeal. Salt Lake County v. Ramoselli, 567 P.2d 182 (Utah, 1977); Bountiful v. Swift, 535 P.2d 1236 (Utah, 1975).

Furthermore, the presentation of this evidence was untimely and so is not properly before this Court. Evidence not offered at the hearing cannot be considered for the first time on appeal. There was evidence presented by Plaintiff which supports the decision of the trial Court. Therefore, the decision of the trial Court should be affirmed.

## POINT II

AN ORDER OF IMMEDIATE OCCUPANCY IS NOT REVERSIBLE UNLESS THE DECISION IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

In State v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Co., 8 U.2d 236, 332 P.2d 926 (1958) the State desired to acquire property for a freeway that was occupied by railroad tracks. The trial judge denied an order of immediate occupancy because the railroad was also serving an existing public purpose. The Court recognized that the freeway was undoubtedly a higher and better public use but refused to reverse the trial Court as to the granting of the order of immediate occupancy. The Court stated:

The granting of a motion for immediate occupancy has been held by this court primarily to be one directed to the sound discretion of the trial court, reversible only because of obvious abuse thereof; . . . 332 P.2d at 927

In Bountiful v. Swift, 535 P.2d 1236 (Utah, 1975) the City of Bountiful condemned land for a road and acquired an order of immediate occupancy. The condemnees challenged the order, claiming that the taking was not necessary and was not authorized. This Court upheld the order and in so doing said:

The trial judge, among other things, is given the power to hear and decide if the conditions precedent to the taking are

met. Further, on a motion for immediate occupancy the trial court is empowered to grant or deny the motion according to the equity of the case. 535 P.2d at 1238.

In Utah Copper Co. v. Montana-Bingham Consolidated Mining Co., 69 Utah 423, 255 P. 672 (1926), plaintiff desired to build a ditch and pipeline across defendant's land to aid plaintiff's mining operations. The Court in this early case recognized that the decision to grant an order of immediate occupancy is discretionary with the trial Court.

The trial Judge in the present case weighed the evidence and granted an order of immediate occupancy. Judge Christoffersen, in the Memorandum Decision, stated that "the evidence taken at the hearing in this matter established this was the cheapest and best method of taking care of the sewage problem." (R. 49) The Judge had the discretion to make the decision he made. Because there is ample evidence to support the decision, the decision is not arbitrary and capricious and therefore is not reversible.

### POINT III

PUBLIC NECESSITY IS A LEGISLATIVE QUESTION  
AND NOT REVIEWABLE

In Postal Telegraph Cable Co. v. Oregon Short Line Railroad Co. 23 Utah 474, 65 P. 735 (1901) the railroad company objected to the telegraph company placing its poles and lines

upon the railroad right-of-way. The Court determined the use to be public and so refused to review the necessity of such an action. The Court stated:

It may be said to be a general rule that, unless a corporation exercising the power of eminent domain acts in bad faith or is guilty of oppression, its discretion in the selection of land will not be interfered with. (Citing cases.) With the degree of necessity or the extent which the property will advance the public purpose, the courts have nothing to do. (Citing cases.) When the use is public, the necessity of expediency of appropriating any particular property is not a subject of judicial cognizance. (Citing cases.) 65 P. at 739.

In Bountiful v. Swift, supra, at 1238, the Court stated:

. . . necessity, expediency or propriety in opening a public street is a political question and in absence of fraud, bad faith, or abuse of discretion action of such boards will not be disturbed by the courts.

In North Laramie Land Co. v. Hoffman, 268 U.S. 276 (1925), the condemnee challenged a county's right to take land for highway purposes. The taking was upheld, the United States Supreme Court stating, ". . . the necessity and expediency of the taking of property for public use 'are legislative questions, no matter who may be charged with their decision, and a hearing thereon is not essential to due process in the sense of the Fourteenth Amendment.' (Citing cases.)" This view was also followed in Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26



(1954) where condemnees challenged the right of a redevelopment agency to take their property. The Court upheld the taking and stated, "Once the question of the public purpose has been decided, the amount and character of land to be taken for the project and the need for the particular tract to complete the integrated plan vests in the discretion of the legislative branch." See also, U.S. v. 416.18 Acres of Land, 514 F.2d 627 (7th Cir. 1975); Ledford v. Corps of Engineers of U.S., 500 F.2d 26 (6th Cir. 1974); Mamer v. District of Columbia Redevelopment Land Agency, 284 F.2d 221 (D.C. Cir. 1960); U.S. v. Agee, 322 F.2d 139 (6th Cir. 1963); Harrison-Halsted Community Group v. Housing and Home Finance Agency, 310 F.2d 99 (7th Cir. 1962).

In the instant case, Plaintiff is constructing a rest area to facilitate and expedite the safe and enjoyable use of the interstate highway system. An essential part of a rest area is sewage disposal. This project, then, serves a public purpose and the necessity of it is to be determined by Plaintiff. Plaintiff's witnesses have also testified as to the necessity and the Memorandum Decision is based upon this testimony as to necessity. Therefore, the issue of necessity is not reviewable and the order of the District Court should be affirmed.

Defendants cite 1 Nichols on Eminent Domain, Section 4.11[2] for the proposition that the issue of necessity is a

judicial question. However, an examination of that entire section reveals that the issue of necessity presents a judicial question only when there is no possibility of the land condemned serving a public purpose:

There is, however, at least a theoretical limit beyond which the legislature cannot go. The expediency of constructing a particular public improvement and the extent of the public necessity therefor are clearly not judicial questions; but it is obvious that, if property is taken in ostensible behalf of a public improvement which it can never by any possibility serve, it is being taken for a use that is not public, and the owner's constitutional rights call for protection by the courts. 1 Nichols on Eminent Domain, Section 4.11[2] p. 4-156. (Emphasis added.)

In fact, the cases in which a legislative (or administrative) decision as to necessity have been reversed are very few. Putting the sentence quoted by defendant in context with the sentences before and after, we find the following:

While many courts have used sweeping expressions in the decisions in which they have disclaimed the power of supervising the selection of the site of public improvements, it may be safely said that the courts of the various states would feel bound to interfere to prevent an abuse of the discretion delegated to the legislature by an attempted appropriation of land in utter disregard of the possible necessity of its use, or when the alleged purpose was a cloak to some sinister scheme. In other words, the court would interfere in a case in which it did not merely disagree with the judgment of the legislature, but felt that that body had acted with total lack of judgment or in bad faith. In every case, therefore, it is a judicial question whether the taking is of such a nature that it is or may be founded on a public necessity. But while the courts have frequently de-

clared their power to set aside acts of the legislature upon such a ground, cases in which the power has been actually exercised seem rarely to have arisen. 1 Nichols on Eminent Domain, Section 4.11[2] p. 4-157 to 4-158.

Furthermore, in Section 4.11[3] p. 4-184 to 4-185,

Nichols states:

That the legislature may, and usually does, delegate the power of selecting the land to be condemned to the public agent that is to do the work; in such case it makes little, if any, difference whether the grant of authority is, in terms, limited to such land as is "necessary" for the purpose in view, for a general grant of authority carries the same limitation by implication and in either case the necessity is for the condemnor and not for the courts to decide, and the decision of such condemnor is final as long as it acts reasonably and in good faith. (Emphasis added.)

In Section 4.11 p. 4-138 to 4-152 we find the following:

Section 4.11. The overwhelming weight of authority makes clear beyond any possibility of doubt that the question of the necessity or expediency of a taking in eminent domain lies within the discretion of the legislature and is not a proper subject of judicial review.

. . . In accordance with the general principle, it has been held that the courts may not inquire into the question,

(1) whether there is any necessity for the taking,

(2) whether there is any need for resorting to eminent domain in effecting such acquisitions,

(3) whether the time is a fitting one,  
(4) whether there is a need for the property to the extent sought to be acquired, . . .

(6) whether there is any need for the particular estate sought to be condemned, . . .  
(Emphasis added.)

In Salt Lake County v. Ramoselli, supra, the District Judge refused to grant Salt Lake County's petition to condemn the land belonging to the defendants because the County had no plans to use the property in the near future, and in fact, adjoining land acquired six years earlier had not yet been put to the use for which it was acquired by the County. In dicta, the Court said that there is judicial review of the necessity of the taking. The trial Court was sustained and the Court held that when evidence supports the decision, the lower Court decision will not be disturbed. The Court stated:

Plaintiff's challenge to the judgment fails since the parties sought and stipulated for the decision and there is an abundance of admissible, competent, substantial evidence to support the same.

In accord with the numerous pronouncements of this court, no attempt should be made to substitute our judgment for that of the trial court. 567 P.2d at 184.

Since there is evidence in the present case to support the decision, Ramoselli indicates that the decision must be upheld. To use Ramoselli, as Defendants do, to reverse the present case, is not a proper application of Ramoselli. In the present case not only are there present plans for the rest area and sewage lagoon, but construction has begun on the rest area. Therefore, the basis for which the order of immediate occupancy was denied in Ramoselli does not exist in the present case.

#### POINT IV

PLAINTIFF HAS BEEN GIVEN STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO CONDEMN FOR THIS PURPOSE.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 27-12-96(11), (1953 as amended), states:

Acquisition of rights of way and other real property. - The commission is authorized to acquire any real property or interests therein, deemed necessary for temporary, present, or reasonable future state highway purposes by gift, agreement, exchange, purchase, condemnation, or otherwise. Highway purposes as used in this section or otherwise in this act shall include, but shall not be limited to the following:

. . . (11) The construction and maintenance of roadside rest areas adjacent to or near any highway.

23 C.F.R., Section 752.106(d) states: "Safety rest areas and scenic overlooks, where the need exists, are to be provided with comfort and convenience facilities reasonably necessary to accommodate the traveling public. . . ." Thus, included within a roadside rest area are toilets, drinking water, and generally grass or other type of vegetation that must be watered. These types of services create certain amounts of waste that must be disposed of. Since the existing sewer is too distant (R. 41) and the high water table prevents the construction of a septic tank and accompanying drain fields, (R. 84-86) the only feasible solution is to construct the type of sewage lagoon proposed by plaintiff. This must of necessity

be part of the rest area in order for the rest area to function properly and fulfill the purpose for which it is constructed.

Defendants contend that there is no express authority to condemn for a sewage lagoon and therefore Plaintiff cannot condemn land for such a purpose. Such an interpretation of the statute would be contrary to the intent of the Legislature which passed the statute. If Plaintiff cannot construct a sewage lagoon in conjunction with the rest area, it will also be effectively stopped from building the rest area. Such was certainly not the intent of the Legislature, for the language of the statute is very clear and express in giving Plaintiff the authority to condemn land for ". . . the construction and maintenance of roadside rest areas . . ." Maintenance of a rest area must include the disposal of wastes created by the services offered at the rest area. Thus, the power to construct and maintain a sewage lagoon is clearly implied in the statutory grant of power to condemn for roadside rest area purposes.

Defendants cite Great Salt Lake Authority v. Island Ranching Co., 18 U.2d 276, 421 P.2d 504 (1966) for the contention that the power to condemn cannot be obtained by implication. In that case, the Great Salt Lake Authority was created to preserve and develop the Great Salt Lake and its

environs. Although the Authority was not given the power of eminent domain, it tried to exercise that power by condemning defendant's lands, claiming that such power was consistent with the statutory powers given it. This Court refused to find such powers and held that the Great Salt Lake Authority did not have the power of eminent domain. That case is not properly applied to the present case because here Plaintiff has the express power to acquire land by condemnation. Furthermore, the statute conferring that power does not limit its exercise to the purposes mentioned. The statute, in pertinent part, reads: "Highway purposes as used in this section or otherwise in this act shall include but shall not be limited to the following: . . ." (Emphasis added.) Utah Code Annotated, 27-12-96 (1953, as amended). Thus, Island Ranching Co. is not applicable as Plaintiff has been given the express authority to construct the roadside rest area, which includes the sewage lagoon.

Defendants also contend that "area" means one contiguous plane or extent of surface and that therefore the sewage lagoon cannot be located on the east side of the freeway but must be located on the west side, contiguous to the rest area. Such a contention is without merit in view of the Department of Health regulations which require this type of lagoon to be at least 1000 feet from any inhabited location.

(R. 84-88) Since the rest area is an inhabited area, these regulations can only be complied with by placing the lagoon at least 1000 feet from the rest area. Thus, the lagoon can never be contiguous to the rest area, as Defendants urge. Yet, the sewage lagoon is a necessary adjunct of the roadside rest area and is essential to the very existence of the rest area. Therefore, the power to condemn this land is necessarily implied in Utah Code Annotated 27-12-96(11), (1953 as amended).

#### POINT V

PRIVATE AND PUBLIC USE COMMINGLED IN A PUBLIC PROJECT DOES NOT DETRACT FROM THE PUBLIC NATURE OF THE PROJECT AND ITS PUBLIC NECESSITY.

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